2003

Utah v. Joseph Maka Langi : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Issue of Argument I:

Whether the trial court improperly prevented the defense from cross examining the victim's regarding their immigration status, in violation of the right of confrontation, which if allowed would have established that they were both illegal aliens, and that at least one had previously been deported, establishing that they were not credible about the existence of the contents of their wallets and as to whether their wallets were taken.

Objection Preserving Issue: On April 16, 2001, the State of Utah filed a motion in limine, together with a memorandum, to preclude the defense from inquiring into the victims immigration status, acknowledging that they were both illegal aliens. *Motion in Limine Re: Victims' Immigration and Custody Status* (filed April 16, 2001) *Aplt. A-26*; *Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine Re: Victims' Immigration and Custody Status* (filed April 16, 2001) *Aplt. A-28*. Oral arguments on the states motion in limine were held on April 24, 2001. At trial defense counsel attempted to cross examine the first of the two victims regarding their immigration status, and was precluded from doing so upon the state's objections. *Tr. p. 147*. Defense counsel was then under the onus of contempt and did not engage in similar cross examination of the second victim.

Standard of Review: The right of confrontation is a question of law based on a

constitutional right that is reviewed for correctness, while the question of law requires the application of the facts to construe the standard, requiring the incorporation of the clearly erroneous standard for the subsidiary factual determinations. *See, State v. Hubbard*, 48 P.3d 953, 962 (Utah 2002).

Issue of Argument II:

Whether it was plain error for the government to have a law enforcement officer testify that a co-defendant's stated that Mr. Langi had the wallet in violation of the right of confrontation

Objection Preserving Issue: No objection was made at trial and therefore is brought on appeal under the plain error standard. *See, Tr. p. 133.*

Standard of Review: The court will review error for which no objection is made under the plain error standard of (1) whether error existed, (2) whether the error should have been obvious to the court and (3) whether the error was prejudicial. *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993). The right of confrontation is a question of law based on a constitutional right and is reviewed for correctness, while the question of law requires the application of the facts to construe the standard, requiring the incorporation of the clearly erroneous standard for the subsidiary factual determinations. *See, State v. Hubbard*, 48 P.3d 953, 962 (Utah 2002).

Issue of Argument III:

Whether it was plain error for the trial court to allow a law enforcement officer to testify as to his lay interpretation of the events depicted on a video showing the events in violation of the right of confrontation.

Objection Preserving Issue: No objection was made at trial and therefore is brought on appeal under the plain error standard. *See, Tr. p. 117.*

Standard of Review: The court will review error for which no objection is made under the plain error standard of (1) whether error existed, (2) whether the error should have been obvious to the court and (3) whether the error was prejudicial. *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993). The right of confrontation is a question of law based on a constitutional right and is reviewed for correctness, while the question of law requires the application of the facts to construe the standard, requiring the incorporation of the clearly erroneous standard for the subsidiary factual determinations. *See, State v. Hubbard*, 48 P.3d 953, 962 (Utah 2002).

Issue of Argument IV:

Whether the trial court erred in allowing the government to introduce evidence through the prosecution's impeachment of its own witness.

Objection Preserving Issue: This issue was preserved on appeal by the defense's

objection. *Tr. p. 204-205.*

Standard of Review: The introduction of statements in connection with criminal conduct are reviewed as a matter of law for correctness. *State v. Hamilton*, 827 P.2d 232, 239 (Utah 1992).

Issue of Argument V:

Whether the trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion for a new trial based on the newly discovered evidence that established that the co-defendant's material statement to law enforcement prior to trial was false.

Objection Preserving Issue: The issue was preserved by the defendant by motion; *Motion for a New Trial* (filed May 31, 2001) & *Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for a New Trial* (filed June 25, 2001) *Aplt. A-33 & A-36.*

Standard of Review: The standard of review when the court reviews the denial of a motion for a new trial is the clear abuse of discretion by the trial court standard. *State v. Colwelli*, 2000 UT 8, ¶ 12, 994 P.2d 177; *State v. Hamilton*, 827 P.2d 232 (Utah 1992).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES
RULES AND REGULATIONS REQUIRING INTERPRETATION
IN THIS APPEAL

Federal Constitutional Provisions

United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment

United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment

State Constitutional Provisions

Utah Constitution, Article I, § 12

Utah Constitution, Article I, § 7

Federal Statutes

8 U.S.C. § 1182

8 U.S.C. § 1325

8 U.S.C. § 1326

State Statutes

U.C. § 53-3-205

U.C. § 76-6-302

Rules

U.R.E. 701

U.R.E. 704

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Appellant was convicted of two counts of Aggravated Robbery, both first degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302, as amended, with gun and gang enhancements.

Course of Proceedings

On October 13, 2000, Mr. Langi was charged in an information with two counts of Aggravated Robbery, both first degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302, as amended, with gun and gang enhancements, was filed in the Third Judicial District Court, State of Utah, Dock. No. 001917415. A preliminary hearing was held on December 5, 2000, before the Hon. Paul G. Maughn, and Mr. Langi was bound over to stand trial on both counts. Also on December 5, 2000, the case was assigned to the Hon. Judith S. Atherton, District Judge. Mr. Langi was arraigned on December 18, 2000, and plead not guilty to both counts.

On April 16, 2001, the Final Pretrial Conference was held and the State of Utah filed a motion in limine, together with a memorandum, to preclude the defense from inquiring into the victims immigration status, acknowledging that they were both illegal aliens.

Motion in Limine Re: Victims' Immigration and Custody Status (filed April 16, 2001)

Aplt. A-26; Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine Re: Victims' Immigration and Custody Status (filed April 16, 2001) *Aplt. A-28*. Oral arguments on the states motion in limine were held on April 24, 2001, at which time the court addressed the question of the defense cross examining the victims' immigration statice. Trial began the next day, on April 25, 2001 and continued through April 26, 2001, at which time the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts against Mr. Langi.

At the end of the first day of trial, April 25, 2001, the government moved to hold defense counsel in contempt of court for the violation of the Order granting motion in limine, which the trial court took under advisement at that time. At the conclusion of trial, on April 26, 2001, the court held defense counsel in contempt of court for violation of the Order granting the motion in limine. On May 23, 2001, defense counsel paid the contempt fine.

On June 11, 2001, Mr. Langi was sentenced to two concurrent sentences of nine (9) years to life for the convictions of aggravated robbery with gun and gang enhancements. No fine was imposed, but he was ordered to pay restitution in the amount of \$3,728. 47. Mr. Langi was immediately remanded to the custody of the Salt Lake County Sheriff and transported to the Utah State Prison.

Mr. Langi filed a *Motion for a New Trial* on May 31, 2001, prior to Sentencing. On June 25, 2001, after sentencing, Mr. Langi filed his *Memorandum in Support of*

Defendant's Motion for a New Trial, Aplt. A-36. A hearing was held on the motion for a new trial on September 7, 2001, which was orally denied with the government to submit findings of fact and conclusions of law. On February 20, 2002, the defendant filed *Defendant's Objections to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Re: Defendant's Motion for New Trial.* On the March 15, 2002, the court denied the objections and signed the *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Re: Defendant's Motion for New Trial (Aplt. A-74)* as submitted by the government.

The written *Order of Final Judgment, Sentence and Commitment* was entered by the trial court on November 13, 2002. A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 26, 2003.

Disposition in the District Court

Appellant was convicted of two counts of Aggravated Robbery, both first degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302, as amended on April 26, 2002, and sentenced to two indeterminate terms of nine years to life, running concurrently on June 11, 2002. The *Defendant's Motion for a New Trial* was filed May 31, 2001; and was denied on March 15, 2002 in the trial court's written *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Re: Defendant's Motion for New Trial, Aplt. A-74.* The trial court entered its written *Order of Final Judgment, Sentence and Commitment, Aplt. A-86,* on

November 13, 2002.

Statement of Relevant Facts

During the early morning hours of February 26, 2000, Jose Farias, together with Rachel Redding and Gabriel Calvillo went to Beto's restaurant in Kearns, Utah, to have dinner. *Tr. p. 135-136; Tr. p. 179.* Beto's restaurant is a 24-hour, fast food, Mexican restaurant. *Tr. p. 179.* At the time of his arrival at the restaurant Mr. Farias was wearing an earring in his right eyebrow, he recalls arriving at the restaurant with his wallet. *Tr. p. 136-137.* The three ordered their food and sat down at a table to eat. *Tr. p. 180.* While they were eating three Polynesian men, Konai Bloomfield, Siaosi Afu, and Joseph Langi entered the restaurant. *Tr. p. 180, 202, 203.* After entering the restaurant they approached the table where Mr. Farias, Ms. Redding and Mr. Calvillo were sitting, and Mr. Afu said to Mr. Farias, "Everything is cool. We are just here to get something to eat." (*Tr. p. 181*) and Mr. Afu shook Mr. Farias's hand. *Tr. p. 158.* The three men went to the counter to order their food. *Tr. p. 182.*

While the three men were at the counter Mr. Farias asked Ms. Redding to go to the counter and get him a soda. *Tr. p. 182.* Ms. Redding approached the counter and Mr. Farias put on his coat and followed behind her. *Tr. p. 182, 187.* As she approached the counter the three men, who were standing together, let Ms. Redding and Mr. Farias ahead

of them. *Tr. p. 182.* As Ms. Redding was ordering she saw Mr. Farias fall forward, hitting his head on the cash register. *Tr. p. 183.* Mr. Bloomfield punched Mr. Farias, and in that single blow knocked him out. *Tr. p. 117.*

While Ms. Redding and Mr. Farias were approaching the counter, Mr. Calvillo got up, and Mr. Langi stood behind him. *Tr. p. 116.* When Mr. Bloomfield struck Mr. Farias Mr. Langi also struck Mr. Calvillo in the head. *Tr. p. 117.* Then Mr. Langi went over to Mr. Farias and bent over. *Tr. p. 117.* Officer Lone testified that while Mr. Langi was bent over Mr. Farias, Mr. Langi was "going through Farias's pocket." *Tr. p. 117.* Mr. Langi stomped on Mr. Farias's head. *Tr. p. 117.* After stomping on Mr. Farias's head, Mr. Langi went back over to Mr. Calvillo. *Tr. p. 117.* At which time, Officer Lone testified, Mr. Langi went through Mr. Calvillo's pockets. *Tr. p. 117.*

Officer Lone first testified that Mr. Calvillo's wallet had been taken, and that Mr. Calvillo had lost his cash from a cashed paycheck and his green card. *Tr. p. 119.* Officer Lone testified that a green card is an INS card that establishes a person is legally in the country and can work. *Tr. p. 119.* After Officer Lone had testified that it was Mr. Calvillo who had lost the wallet, he changed his testimony indicating that he had been mistaken, and that was Mr. Farias who had lost the wallet containing the cashed his paycheck and INS card. *Tr. p. 119.* Officer Lone never investigated whether or not Mr. Farias ever had an INS card. *Tr. p. 120.* Officer Lone never determined whether an INS

card existed. *Tr. p. 127.*

Ms. Redding testified that she did not see anything come out of Mr. Farias's pockets. *Tr. p. 193.*

Mr. Farias had no memory of what happened once he was struck until the next morning, as he was unconscious. *Tr. p. 137, 139.* He testified that when he went to the restaurant he had a wallet with him. *Tr. p. 136.* He stated that Ms. Redding had his money and that he did not know if anybody took any money from him. *Tr. p. 143-144.* When he woke up at the hospital he no longer had his eyebrow ring, he did not know what had become of it and never found it again. *Tr. 141.* Mr. Farias acknowledged that he was a convicted felon for a weapons charge. *Tr. p. 146.* However, when asked whether he claimed to have had an INS card on the night the incident occurred the court sustained an objection on grounds of relevance. *Tr. p. 147.* Mr. Farias never testified that his wallet, or that his money, had been taken.

After Mr. Farias had testified, but before Mr. Calvillo testified, the Court took a recess, at which time the prosecution objected to defense counsel's questions regarding the witnesses immigration status pursuant to the motion in limine. *Tr. p. 149.* The prosecution did, however, ask that defense counsel be held in contempt, and the court indicated it would reserve on that issue until the end of trial. *Tr. p 149-150.* At the end of the trial the court did, in fact, hold defense counsel in contempt of court and fined him.

Tr. p. 278.

Mr. Calvillo testified that when he went to the restaurant he had a wallet with about \$80 in it, and when he woke up at the hospital he no longer had his wallet, and never got it or the money back. *Tr. p. 164.* He testified he kept his wallet in his back pant pocket. *Tr. p. 172.* He further testified that his clothes were thrown away (implying by the hospital). *Tr. p. 172.* Mr. Calvillo testified that in his wallet there had been a driver's license and "some information papers." *Tr. p. 174.* Defense counsel, under the pending contempt charge, did not ask Mr. Calvillo anything about the INS card, or Mr. Calvillo's immigration status.

It should also be noted that Mr. Calvillo did not testify with regarding to Mr. Farias's eyebrow ring.

It should also be noted that when Officer Lone spoke with Mr. Calvillo, officer Loan had Mr. Farias act as translator between Officer Lone and Mr. Calvillo. *Tr. p. 127, l. 19-21.*

This appeal contests the admission of evidence at trial with regard to whether Mr. Langi took anything from the victim at the time of the assault and the trial court's failure to consider newly discovered evidence after the trial. At trial, counsel for the defendant acknowledged Mr. Langi was guilty of the assault, saying, "Mr. Langi admits that he did wrong, He did not commit an aggravated robbery. He will plead to you that he is guilty

of an assault." *Tr. p. 65, l. 15-17*. Mr. Langi's assault charges were aggravated because the government alleged he "took" something during the course of the assault.

Information, "unlawfully and intentionally took personal property in the possession of ... or immediate presence." of the victim.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Argument I

The trial erred in preventing the defense from cross examining the two victims about the fact that they were illegal aliens, and in holding the defense counsel in contempt for attempting to do so. The fact that the victims were illegal aliens meant that they could not work, drive, or hold INS cards, which they claimed were in the wallets that were taken. The defense should have been permitted to cross examine the victims regarding their immigration status as it would have established that they either lied under oath in obtaining a paycheck, driver's license or INS card or that they had lied about even having the cash from a paycheck, a driver's license or an INS card. Thus establishing their propensity to make false statements under oath and negating the existence of wallets and the claimed content.

Argument II

The government had a law enforcement officer testify that during the interrogation of a co-defendant that the co-defendant stated that Mr. Langi had the wallet. This testimony directly violated *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 135, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968).

Argument III

The trial court permitted plain error when it allowed a law enforcement officer to testify as to his lay interpretation of the events depicted on a video showing the events in violation of the right of confrontation. The testifying officer had watched the video about 20 times and during the time the jury was watching the video made statements interpreting the events depicted. Placing a spin, or interpretation, on the events being shown to the jury, when the officer had no personal knowledge of the events is an improper use of lay witness opinion evidence.

Argument IV

The trial court erred when it allowed the government to introduce evidence through the prosecution's impeachment of its own witness. Mr. Afu was called by the government for the purpose of introducing evidence that Mr. Langi had a victim's wallet after the incident. Instead, Mr. Afu testified that he had no recollection of seeing Mr. Langi with a wallet after the incident. The prosecution then impeached Mr. Afu with a transcript from a prior interrogation by law enforcement; but the court did not instruct the jury that the impeachment could not be considered as evidence.

Argument V

The trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion for a new trial based on the newly discovered evidence that, as conceded by the prosecution, Mr. Afu lied during the interrogation by law enforcement when he said that he saw Mr. Langi with a victim's wallet after the incident, and that Mr. Afu could not read. The lie about the wallet during the interrogation was introduced both through the *Bruton* violation that is the subject of Argument II, and to impeach Mr. Afu which is the subject of Argument IV.

ARGUMENT I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED IT DISCRETION WHEN IT PREVENTED DEFENSE COUNSEL FROM CROSS-EXAMINING THE VICTIM REGARDING PROPERTY ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN STOLEN.

On April 16, 2003, the government filed a *Motion in Limine Re: Victims' Immigration and Custody Status*, together with a *Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine Re: Victims' Immigration and Custody Status*. In the government's memorandum they state that both Mr. Farias and Mr. Calvillo were residing illegally in the United States. *Memorandum*, p. 2, ¶3.

At the pretrial conference the issue of Mr. Farias's and Mr. Calvillo's immigration status was briefly mentioned. Defense counsel indicated that the immigration and custody status would arise if the government mentioned the matter or if it became relevant as a defense, which counsel indicated "is highly probable that it will be." *Hearing Tr (Apr. 24, 1991) p. 9*. The trial court indicated that it could not see how immigration status would be relevant. *Id.*

Whether Mr. Farias and/or Mr. Calvillo told officer Loan that a wallet having an INS card was taken was material to the defense in the present case. An illegal alien being questioned by law enforcement would be inherently concerned that their illegal status would be discovered and that they would be prosecuted. Pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1325 it is

a federal offense to be present in the United States illegally, and pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1326 it is substantial offense if an illegal alien returns after being deported, and if the person was convicted of a violent felony prior to their deportation it constitutes an offense for which a person may be imprisoned for 20 years. The fact that an illegal alien faces substantial federal criminal charges, especially for aggravated reentry, creates a powerful incentive for the illegal alien to tell a law enforcement officer that their wallet was stolen or is missing, and that as a consequence they don't have their INS card along with other items commonly found in a wallet.

The fact that the victims who claimed to have the wallet that was taken also claim that it contained an INS card was both relevant and material to the defense. The defense clearly sought to establish that these victims lied about the wallet being stolen with an INS card in it to hide the fact that they were illegal aliens. The government has acknowledged that they were illegal aliens so they could not have had an INS card, so clearly they lied to Officer Lone. The lie about the INS card and their immigration status was also materially relevant to whether they cashed a paycheck, as legal presence in the United States would be required in order for a person to legally work. No INS card means it was illegal for them to work, no work means no paycheck, ergo no cash in the wallet, ergo no wallet.

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