2003

Utah v. Joseph Maka Langi : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

"The doctrine of invited error 'prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal.'" *State v. Perdue*, 813 P.2d 1201, 1205 (Utah App. 1991) (quoting *State v. Henderson*, 792 P.2d 514, 516 (Wash. 1990)); accord *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1220 (Utah 1993). The Utah Supreme Court recently reiterated the policy behind this well-established rule:

We adhere to this rule for two important reasons. "First, it fortifies our long-established policy that the trial court should have the first opportunity to address the claim of error. Second, it discourages parties from intentionally misleading the trial court so as to preserve a hidden ground for reversal on appeal." [*State v. Anderson*, 929 P.2d 1107, 1109 (Utah 1996)] (quoting *Dunn*, 850 P.2d at 1220).

State v. Hamilton, 2003 UT 22, ¶ 54, 70 P.3d 111. See also *State v. Medina*, 738 P.2d 1021, 1022-23 (Utah 1987) (declining to review a challenge to a jury instruction stipulated to by defense counsel at trial under invited error doctrine).

Before trial, the prosecutor filed a motion a limine to prohibit defendant from inquiring into or referring at trial to the victims' immigration status (R. 86, 90-93). In her memorandum, the prosecutor acknowledged that both victims were residing in the United States illegally (R. 92). However, noting the elements of aggravated robbery, the prosecutor argued that their status as illegal aliens was irrelevant to the proof of any element of the charged offenses, and therefore inadmissible (R. 92). At the hearing on the motion, the trial court asked defense counsel, "Is there any objection to the State's motion with regard to immigration status?" (R. 322:5). Counsel responded, "No, Your Honor" (R. 322:5). The trial court then ruled: "By stipulation, then, it won't be mentioned" (R. 322:5). Somewhat later, counsel sought to clarify the court's ruling, stating that the only way in which he would raise the issue of the victims' immigration status was if the prosecution mentioned it, or if it became relevant, which counsel thought probable (R. 322:9). The trial court readily agreed that defendant could address the matter if the prosecution opened the door (R. 322:9). The court also signaled its readiness to reconsider the relevance of the matter, but at that point could see no relevance (R. 322:9).

At trial, even though the prosecutor had not elicited any testimony concerning Jose's immigration status and without any proffer that the matter had become relevant, defense counsel asked Jose on cross-examination if he was presently being deported or whether he claimed to have an INS card (R. 323:147).⁷ The trial court sustained objections to both

Detective Lone explained that a "green card" is issued by the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) and entitles the card holder to be in the United States and to work here (R. 323:119-20).

questions on grounds of relevance (R. 323:147). Defense counsel never requested a side-bar or conference with the court regarding the relevance of those questions.

Based on defendant's express agreement to forego asking about the victims' immigration status and his failure to later assert that questions relating to Jose's immigration status were relevant, defendant invited any error stemming from the trial court's exclusion of the victim's immigration status and matters related to it. Invited error makes plain error inapplicable. Consequently, the Court should decline to consider this claim of error.

Even if the Court were to disregard defendant's inviting error and find that the trial court erred, any error was harmless. First, defendant was substantially able to impeach Jose in the manner he intended. Defendant elicited from Detective Lone that he had interviewed Jose, who told him that his wallet, containing cash from his paycheck and his "green card," had been taken in the robbery (R. 323:119-21). Defendant later successfully challenged Jose's credibility when he elicited from Jose that he did not know if anyone had taken \$220 from him, that he did not recall telling anyone that his green card had been stolen, and that the green card was not in his wallet (R. 323:144, 147-48). Defendant also elicited from Jose that he had been convicted of a felony weapons charge and that he had been previously deported (R. 323:146-47). In short, defendant succeeded in challenging Jose's credibility by showing that he had apparently testified differently at trial than he had reported to Detective Lone concerning the contents of the wallet. Defendant also at least suggested that the existence of the INS card was in doubt because Jose was likely still an illegal alien. Defendant reinforced these impressions by eliciting from Detective Lone that he never

located the wallet, the money, or the green card, that he did not see the wallet on the videotape, that he did not know for a “positive certainty” that the wallet was missing, and did not know if the INS card actually existed (R. 323:121-22, 127).

More significantly, as argued at the outset, is that defendant’s casting doubt on the existence or nonexistence of the victims’ wallets and their contents or the victims’ credibility concerning those items could not have resulted in a different outcome at trial.

2. Defendant affirmatively waived his challenge to Detective Lone’s testimony; the record provides no foundation for a denial-of-confrontation challenge

Defendant claims the trial court committed plain error in allowing Detective Lone to testify that Afu told him that defendant had one of the victim’s wallets. Defendant claims allowing this testimony violated *Bruton v. United States*. Aplt. Br. at 15, 21-25.⁸ The Court should decline to consider this claim because defendant’s failure to object to the challenged testimony was evidently deliberate trial strategy, *Bruton* plainly does not apply to this case, and any error is harmless.

In *State v. Bullock*, 791 P.2d 155 (Utah 1989), *cert. denied*, 497 U.S. 1024 (1990), the defendant alleged violations of due process and ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.* at 157.

Because defense counsel in *Bullock* failed to object, the defendant’s claims were amenable

⁸ “In order to obtain appellate relief through the doctrine of ‘plain error,’ an appellant must establish that ‘(i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful.’” *State v. Irwin*, 924 P.2d 5, 7 (Utah App. 1996), *cert. denied*, 931 P.2d 146 (Utah 1997) (quoting *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d at 1208). “[T]he error must be ‘plain,’ which means that ‘from our examination of the record, we must be able to say that it should have been obvious to a trial court that it was committing error.’” *State v. Braun*, 787 P.2d 1336, 1341 (Utah App. 1990) (quoting *State v. Eldredge*, 773 P.2d 29, 35 (Utah 1989)).

to review only under the plain error doctrine. *Id.* at 158. As a threshold matter, the Utah Supreme Court refused to consider the merits of the plain error claim because counsel's failure to object was a reasonable strategic decision, rather than an oversight: "If the decision was conscious and did not amount to ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court should refuse to consider the merits of the trial court's ruling." *Id.* at 158-59.

In this case, defense counsel's not objecting to Detective Lone's testimony about Afu's previous disclosures about the wallet was almost certainly a reasonable and consciously deliberate decision. Counsel obviously knew that Detective Lone had interviewed Afu. Counsel requested a copy of the interview in discovery; and it is evident from his cross-examination of Afu that he was familiar with the statements Afu had made during the interview (R. 13-15; 324:217-20). From the prosecution's witness list, counsel knew that Afu would be called to testify, and counsel would have reasonably anticipated that Afu's trial testimony would be consistent with the statements he made during the interview with Detective Lone (R. 64). In short, because counsel's not objecting to Detective Lone's report of his interview with Afu was almost certainly deliberate and reasonable, the Court should decline to consider defendant's claim under the plain error doctrine.

In any case, defendant's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, section 12 of the Utah Constitution were not violated because no *Bruton* issue exists in this case. In *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620 (1968), the defendant and his codefendant were convicted of armed robbery at a joint trial based on the codefendant's confession that both he and Bruton

committed the offense. *Id.* at 124, 88 S. Ct. at 1621-22. The court held that the introduction of such a confession where the codefendant-confessor did not take the stand denied Bruton his right to confront a witness against him. *Id.* at 137, 88 S. Ct. at 1628. *See State v. Webb*, 779 P.2d 1108, 1112 (Utah 1989) (“[I]f the declarant is not present, the core values of the confrontation right are implicated because ‘[t]he essence of the confrontation right is the opportunity to have the accusing witness in court and subject to cross-examination, so that bias and credibility can be evaluated by the finder of fact.’”) (quoting *State v. Nelson*, 725 P.2d 1353, 1356 (1986)).

None of the constraints on confrontation which the Supreme Court found objectionable in *Bruton* are present in this case. “When an out-of-court statement is offered at trial for the truth of the matter asserted and the declarant is present and available for cross-examination, no federal or state confrontation problem is presented.” *State v. Loughton*, 747 P.2d 426, 429 (Utah 1987). Afu was not tried jointly with defendant. Rather, Afu pleaded guilty to aggravated assault before trial (R. 263, 324:206); therefore, there was no Fifth Amendment limitation on the extent to which defendant could examine Afu. *See State v. Willett*, 909 P.2d 218, 223 (Utah 1995) (recognizing that following the entry of an accomplice’s guilty plea and his sentencing, there existed “[no] real and demonstrable fear of future prosecution for the same offense”) (citing *Affleck v. Third Judicial Dist. Court*, 655 P.2d 665, 667 (Utah 1982)). Afu was available to testify, defendant vigorously cross-examined him at trial, and he even called Afu to testify on his own behalf (R. 202-221). Moreover, contrary to defendant’s assertion, and as discussed fully in the final section of this

brief, Afu never admitted that he lied about defendant's possession of a wallet, but rather consistently reported throughout the proceedings that he lied only about his relationship with defendant (R. 227-32, 323:125-126, 132-33; 324:202, 204-07, 218). In sum, defendant's claim has no foundation in the record

Even if there were some conceivable error, it was harmless. First, although Detective Lone testified before Afu, the former's testimony was merely cumulative of Afu's testimony that defendant had one of the victim's wallets when he left the restaurant and then threw it from the getaway car. Second, as argued above, the existence of the wallets was immaterial to defendant's convictions for aggravated robbery.

3. Defendant invited any error in Detective Lone's commentary about what the videotape depicted

Defendant argues that the trial court committed plain error in allowing Detective Lone to interpret the events depicted on the videotape, particularly that defendant was shown going through the victim's pockets looking for something to take. Aplt. Br. at 16, 25-30. Again, because defendant invited any error by actively soliciting the same type of commentary by the detective and other witnesses, this Court should decline to consider defendant's claim.

In *State v. Bloomfield*, 2003 UT App 3, 63 P.3d 110, a companion case to this one, the defendant also argued that the trial court committed plain error in admitting the same videotape used in this case without a proper foundation. *Id.* at ¶¶ 19-29. Rejecting the claim, this Court noted that even if there was error, defendant invited it, and the Court would therefore decline to review the merits of the claim under the plain error doctrine. *Id.* at ¶¶

24, 29. In support, the Court recited numerous instances during the trial in which the defendant used the videotape to advance the theory of the defense. *Id.* at ¶¶ 25-29

As in *Bloomfield*, defense counsel in this case acquiesced in the prosecutor's use of the videotape from the outset, and thereafter repeatedly used the videotape to develop the theory of the defense. A nonexhaustive recitation of counsel's acquiescence in the use of the videotape and his subsequent reliance on it during the examination of Deputy Huggard consists of the following: (1) counsel did not object when Deputy Huggard testified, without challenge, that State's exhibit 3 was a true and accurate copy of the videotape made by the surveillance camera at Beto's on the night of the incident (R. 323:73-75); (2) on cross-examination, counsel asked the deputy, "As you looked at the videotape, would it be fair to say that Mr. Langi walked along here, on the north side of those windows?" (R. 323:95); (3) counsel asked, "Didn't you observe the video and observe Jose and Rachel approach the counter?" (R. 323:97); (4) when the deputy stated that one of defendant's companions standing at the counter assaulted Jose, counsel asked, "And are you sure that the video shows that?" (R. 323:98); (5) counsel further asked, "During the course of during [sic] the video, can you hear any conversation between Jose and any of the Polynesian men [codefendants] at the counter?" (R. 323:98); and (6) when the prosecutor elicited from the deputy on redirect examination that his primary sources of information in the investigation were eyewitness interviews and "the videotape," counsel did not object (R. 323:102). In closing, after directing the jury to examine the videotape, defendant relied on information

about the positioning and actions of the parties in the restaurant to suggest that Jose, rather than defendant and his companions initiated the entire incident with a stare (R. 324:264-68)

Defense counsel also acquiesced in the use of the videotape and then later relied on it for defense purposes during the examination of Detective Lone. Defense counsel never objected when Detective Lone completed the foundation for the videotape, State's exhibit 3, or when the videotape was admitted into evidence (R. 323:104-06). Except as to the detective's observation that defendant went through Jose's pockets, defense counsel barely objected to any of the detective's extensive observations about what the videotape depicted (R. 323:109-18). Thereafter, on cross-examination, defense counsel relied heavily on Detective Lone's observations about what the videotape depicted: (1) counsel asked the detective, "At any time during the course of viewing that video, did you see any wallet?" (R. 323:121-22); (2) counsel followed by asking if the detective saw whether it was Rachel or Jose who paid for their meals (R. 323:122); (3) counsel asked a series of questions, explicitly challenging how the detective had "interpret[ed]" the videotape, to attack the detective's uncertainty about whether Afu had shaken hands with Jose or Gabriel (R. 323:122-23); (4) counsel continued to invite the detective to refer to videotape to identify the participants' locations in the restaurant (R. 323:123-35); (5) counsel asked Detective Lone to interpret from the demeanor of one of the restaurant patrons that "something [was] happening" (R. 323 130); (6) directing Detective Lone to his observation of the videotape, counsel asked if the detective could see "any wallets" in defendant's hands, to which the detective was unable to give an affirmative answer (R. 323:131); and (7) when an objection was sustained to

counsel's question, "As you saw the video, the timing in question, could Mr. Afu, at Beto's, have seen Mr. Langi go through the pockets of Jose or Gabriel," counsel responded, "The video speaks for itself" (R. 323:134).

The clear purpose of the foregoing examination was to challenge the detective's unfavorable videotape observations, confirm that the videotape did not clearly show defendant taking the victims' wallets, infer that because Rachel paid for Jose's meal he had no money or a wallet, and suggest that the attack was the result of events initiated by the victims prior to defendants' entry into the restaurant. In sum, because defendant so actively invited the error claimed on appeal, this Court, as in *Bloomfield*, should decline to consider the merits of defendant's claim.

In any event, as argued at the outset of this brief, any error is harmless.

4. Impeachment testimony of Afu was properly admitted substantively

Defendant claims the trial court improperly allowed the prosecution to impeach Afu's testimony that, upon leaving the restaurant, defendant had a wallet that he later threw from the getaway car. Aplt. Br. at 16, 30-35. Defendant's claim, that impeachment evidence comes in only to challenge the witness's credibility and not substantively, is without merit. Moreover, any error is harmless.

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